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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

TERRENCE LAMAR WILBURN, No. 2:15-cv-00699-TLN-GGH
Plaintiff,
V. ORDER

GARREN BRACHER, et al.,

Defendants.

This matter is before the undersigned parguo Local Rule 302(c)(21). Currently
pending before the court are the following motidi3:plaintiff's motion for leave to amend; (2
plaintiff’'s motion to remand; (3laintiff's motion to proceed iforma pauperis; (4) plaintiff's
motion to strike defendants’ motions to dismi&y;defendants City of Sacramento, erroneous
sued as Sacramento Police Department, Samugbers, Jr., George Chargin, erroneously ¢
as G. Chargin, Jose Yepes, erroneously sudd¥espes, Sameer Sood, erroneously sued as
Sood, Bobby Daniels, Jeremy tRl&fe, erroneously sued as Ratcliffe, and Kevin Patton,
erroneously sued as K. Patton’s (collectivelye*City Defendants”) motion to dismiss; (6) the
City Defendants’ application to amend theatice of removal; (7) defendants County of
Sacramento, Sacramento County Sheriffs Depamt, Sheriff Scott Jones, Sacramento Count
District Attorneys Office, Sacramento County Ralbefenders Office, Dauty District Attorney

Laura West, Deputy Public Defender Teresahty Deputy Public Defender Larry Yee, and
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Deputy Hester’s (collectively le County Defendants”) motion to dismiss; (8) defendant Helena

Gweon’s motion to dismiss; and (9) defend@atren Bratcher's motion to dismiss.

For the reasons discussed below, the awilir{1) deny plaintiff's motion for leave to
amend; (2) deny plaintiff’'s motion to strike defendants’ motions to dismiss; (3) deny plainti
motion for leave to proceed in forma paupe@3;grant the City Defendants’ application to
amend their notice of removal; and (5) ordefleddants to file opposities or notices of non-
opposition to plaintiff's motion to remand. The court will refrain from ruling on defendants’
motions to dismiss until plaintiff's motion to remdis disposed of, as a granting of that motio
would make defendants’ motions moot.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiff filed his complaint in Sacramento Superior Court on February 20, 2015, as{
claims for (1) violation of 42 U.S.C. 88 19811983; (2) violation of 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1985(3); (3)
neglect to prevent deprivation of civil rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1986; (4) false arrest and fa
imprisonment under California Government C&&20.4; (5) malicious prosecution and abus

process; (6) denial of dirights and discrimination undé&alifornia Civil Code 88 51, 51.5,

51.7, and 52; (7) failure to discharge mandathryy under California Government Code 8§ 815.

(8) negligence under California Government Code § 815.2; (9)laasdubattery; (10)
conspiracy; (11) int&tional or reckless inflictin of emotional distress; Z) negligent infliction of
emotional distress; and (13) improper usentérnet website under California Penal Code 8
290.4. ECF No. 1-1 at 4, 32-42. Plaintiff assedch and every claim against each and ever
defendant._lId. at 32—42.

On March 27, 2015, the City Defendants renubthes action to this court based on the
existence of a federal question and paid thegffee. ECF No. 1. On April 3, 2015, the City
Defendants filed a motion to dismiss plaintiff's e, arguing that plaintiffails to allege facts
sufficient to support a claim pursuant to Ruleld@&). ECF No. 5. On April 20, 2015, plaintiff
filed a motion to remand that was not properly cedifor hearing in front of the undersigned g
a motion to proceed in forma pauperis. ECF Nos. 6, 7. On April 23, 2015, the County

Defendants filed a notice of consent to removahglwith a motion to dismiss plaintiff's claims
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arguing that (1) plaintiff fés to allege facts sufficient to state a federal claim; (2) plaintiff's state

law claims fail because his complaint does nogalleompliance with the California Tort Clain
Act (“Claims Act”); and (3) plaitiff's claims against defendail¥est are barred by prosecutori
and statutory immunity. ECF No. 9. On thensaday, the City Defendants filed an oppositior
plaintiff's motion to remand along with ang@lcation to amend #&ir notice of removal
requesting to incorporate (1) a consenteimoval signed by the County Defendants and
defendant Bratcher and (2)gofs of service for every defendant except defendant Gweon, w
had yet to be served. ECF Nos. 11, 12.

On April 27, 2015, defendant Bratcher filed hitice of consent to removal. ECF No.
13. On April 30, 2015, defendant Bratcher alglfa motion to dismiss plaintiff's claims,
arguing that plaintiff fails to &ge facts sufficient to statectaim. ECF No. 15. Defendant
Bratcher’s motion also requestsithhe court strike every one piaintiff's claims pursuant to
California’s anti-SLAPP statut&€al. Code of Civ. P. 8 425.]}6@ Finally, defendant Bratche
requested in support of his motion to dismiss thatctburt take judicial rtace of plaintiff's state
court complaint and the City Defendants’ netaf removal. ECF No. 16. On May 8, 2015,
plaintiff filed another motion to remand as well as an opposition to the City Defendants’ mc
to dismiss. ECF Nos. 17, 18. On May 2815, defendant Gweon filed a motion to dismiss
plaintiff's claims arguing that (1) they arerbed by the doctrine otidicial immunity; (2)
plaintiff fails to allege facts sufficient to statdéesleral claim; and (3) plaiiff's state law claims
fail because his complaint does not allege compgawith the Claims Act. ECF Nos. 20, 21.
Defendant Gweon also filed a request in suppohteofmotion to dismiss for judicial notice of
plaintiff's state court complaint. ECF NB2. On May 22, 2015, the City Defendants and the
County Defendants both filed replies to plaintifigposition to their motions to dismiss. ECF
Nos. 25, 26.

On May 27, 2015, the court vacated the hepset for the City Defendants’ and the

County Defendants’ motions to dismiss and sititeah the motions on the record. ECF No. 27

! Defendant Bratcher frames imtion to strike pursuant to Califia’s anti-SLAPP statute as
part of his motion to dismiss. They are, in fagparate motions subjeotdifferent standards.

3

S

il

to

ho

ption




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N N N N DN DN NN DN R P R R R R R R R R
® N o O~ W N P O © 0N O 0NN W N B o

On June 4, 2015, plaintiff filed his final motiom remand noticed for hearing on August 6, 20
ECF No. 28. On June 8, 2015, plaintiff filed @oposition to defendant Bratcher’'s motion to
dismiss. ECF No. 31. On June 10, 2015, thetomacated the hearings set for defendant
Bratcher’s motion to dismiss, defendant Gweantion to dismiss, and plaintiff’'s motion to
remand and ordered these motions to be taken under submission once the time for filing
oppositions and replies passed. ECF No. 32J@we 11, 2015, defendant Bratcher filed a rej
to plaintiff’'s opposition. ECF No. 33.

On July 8 2015, plaintiff filed a motion for leave to amend his complaint as well as g
motion to strike defendants’ motions to dismi&CF Nos. 34, 35. On the same day, plaintiff

filed an opposition to defendant Gweon’s motiordismiss. ECF No. 36. On July 30, 2015,

defendant Gweon filed a reply plaintiff's opposition. ECF No. 38. On August 17, 2015, the

City Defendants filed an opposition to plaintsfimotion for leave to amend. ECF No. 40. The
County Defendants then filedetin own opposition to plaintiff'snotion for leave to amend on
August 19, 2015, ECF No. 41, followed by an oppositiopl&intiff's motion to strike the next
day, ECF No. 42. On August 20, 2015, defendaatdBer filed oppositions both plaintiff's
motion for leave to amend, ECF No. 43, and pitiie motion to strike, ECF No. 44. In suppor
of his opposition to plaintiff's motion for leave émmend defendant Bratcher requests that the
court take judicial notice of (Plaintiff's state court complaint; J2he City Defendants’ notice ¢
removal; (3) plaintiff's motion to remand; (4)féadant Bratcher’'s motion to dismiss; and (5)
plaintiff's motion for leave to amend. ECF No. 43-Defendant Bratcher also requests that tf
court take judicial notice of the same docutsealong with plaintiff’'s opposition to his motion
to dismiss, in support of his opposition to pldfis motion to strike. ECF No. 46. The City
Defendants also filed their ovapposition to plaintiff’'s motion tstrike on the same day. ECF
No. 45. Finally, defendant Gweon also filed oppositions to plaintiff's motion for leave to ar
and motion to strike on August 20, 2015. ECF Nos. 47, 48. On August 28, 2015, the cou
vacated the hearings set for plaintiff’s motfon leave to amend and motion to strike and
submitted them on the papers. ECF No. 49.
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiff was convicted of assault with intent to rape, Cal. Penal Code § 220, in
Sacramento Superior Court on December 5, 2E2F No. 1-1 at 11. Accordingly, pursuant t
California Penal Code § 290, plafhwas required to register assex offender upon his releas
from prison. _Id. Plaintiff was released on M&y2004, on parole, and discharged from parol¢
May 7, 2007._1d. By 2013 plaintiff was homeleasd pursuant to California Penal Code 8
290.011 was required to check in with the Sé@ssault Felony Enforcement (SAFE) Task
Force every thirty days. Id.

Plaintiff alleges his bicycle was stolen #anuary 20, 2014, but that he then found it in
walkway between a bookstore and Loaves and Fishesdship Park (“Friendship Park”) shor
thereafter._ld. at 12. Plaintiff took his frame to Friendship Park but was told by an unnam
individual that he could not kedps bike there. Id. Plaiffitigot into an argument with this
individual, and was ultimately banned from the playkdefendant Bratcheitd. On February 20
2014, defendant Officer Sood arrespaintiff for failure to abi@ by California Penal Code §
290.011’s 30-day check in requirement. Id. at ABhough plaintiff's complaint is somewhat
unclear on this point, he seems to allege de&ndant Bratcher callélde police to report him
for violating § 290.011. See id. at-3%/. Plaintiff also alleges thedmeone must have told
defendant Bratcher he violat8d290.011's 30-day check in requitent, and that doing so was
violation of California Penal Code § 29G.4d. at 17.

Plaintiff claims that during his trial a numbof individuals, isluding someone who goe

unnamed and his public defendeef@hdant Huang) “colluded” ith the prosecution (defendant

West) to mislead the presiding judge (defendaneon). Id. at 13—-14. Pldiff also claims that
defendant Huang, West, and Gwexmtiuded in order to wronglgonvict him for violation of
California Penal Code § 290.18. Id. at 14.

On May 9, 2014, defendant Huang visited pléimati the Rio Consumes Correction Cen

with defendant Yee, to explain to plaintiffathdefendant Yee would epresenting him from

2 Plaintiff does not explain hoveporting him for a violation o 290.011 might itself constitute

a violation of § 290.4.
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then on._Id. At plaintiffs bail reduction hearing on May 22014, defendant Yee stated that
plaintiff was continuing to trial “as an ‘act ofulidisobedience.” _Id. al5. Upon hearing this,
plaintiff “asked immediately for a Marsden hearihdd. “Defendant Gweon denied []
[p]laintiff's Marsden [m]otion” the next dayld. On May 23, 2014; however, plaintiff “fired”
defendant Yee and proceeded to represent himself. Id. Eventually, on July 23, 2014, the
dismissed all charges against plaintiff and released him because he had, by that point, be
detained for an amount of time equivalenatty sentence he couldceive. _Id. at 16.
DISCUSSION

l. Motion for Leave to Amend

The court will deny plaintiff’'s motion fordave to amend because (1) amendment usif
plaintiff’'s proposed amended complaint, whiclffets from the same defects as his original
complaint, would be futile; (2) plaintiff unduly ged in bringing his motion; and (3) granting
plaintiff’'s motion would prejudice dendants at this stage of the proceedings. Rule 15(a) is

liberal and leave to amend “shib# freely given when justice sequires.”_See Bowles v. Reac

State

2N

19

very

€,

198 F.3d 752, 757 (9th Cir. 1999). Howee, a district court need not grant leave to amend where

the amendment: (1) prejudices thygosing party; (2) is sougimt bad faith; (3) produces an
undue delay in litigation; or (4% futile. Id. at 758; Jackson v. Bank of Hawaii, 902 F.2d 138

1387 (9th Cir. 1990). Plaintiff's proposed amendethplaint repeats many of the allegations
his original complaint and in the same conclugeryns. The arguments asserted by defenda
in their motions to dismiss apply as effectividyplaintiff’'s proposed amended complaint as th
do to his original complaint. Accordingly, gtarg plaintiff leave to amend his complaint with
the proposed amended complaint would be futile.

What's more, plaintiff filed his motion foehve to amend almost two months after the

most recently filed motion to dismiss, and more than three months after the City Defendan

% In California, a motion by atljant requesting the court to appbihem substitute counsel is
called a “Marsden motion.”_Schell v. Wkte218 F.3d 1017, 1021 (9th Cir. 2000) (citing Peop
v. Marsden, 2 Cal. 3d 118 (1970)). “Normally, #ssence of such a motion is that appointed
counsel's representation has in some significegasure fallen below the level required by the
Sixth Amendment.”_Id.
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removed this matter. Plaintiff’'s motion does gite any reason for this delay. Finally, granti

plaintiff leave to replace his complaint with his proposed amended complaint would prejudjce

defendants by further delaying the disposition efrtmotions to dismiss. Because the argum
asserted by defendants in their motions apply lBgteaplaintiff's proposed amended complain
such a delay would be pointless. Accordinglg tlourt will deny plaintifs motion for leave to

amend because (1) leave to amend would beffl) plaintiff unduly delayed in seeking leave
to amend; and (3) leave to amend would prejudice defendants.

[l Plaintiff's Motion to Proceed in Forma Pauperis

The court will deny plaintiff's motion to procden forma pauperis because this action
been removed and plaintiff is therefore not cespble for the court’s filing fees. 28 U.S.C. 8
1915 permits the court to authorize the commeno¢wieany action withouprepayment of fees
by a person who submits an affidavit showing thay are unable to pay such fees. However
when an action is removed from state courf§ the removing defendants who are responsiblg
paying the filing fees. 28 U.S.C. § 1914. They©f Sacramento paid the court’s filing fee on
March 27, 2015. Accordingly, the court willmeplaintiff's motion because the City of
Sacramento has paid the court’s filing fee plaintiff has not shown any reason why in forma
pauperis status should be granted.

. Plaintiff's Motion to Strike Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss

The court will also deny plaintiff's motion &irike defendants’ motions to dismiss.
Plaintiff's motion seems, primarily, to be apposition to defendants’ motions to dismiss.
Plaintiff does; however, also amgthat defendants’ motions to dismiss should be stricken be
(1) defendants lack standing to file motions to dismiss; and (2) defendatibns to dismiss do
not include sworn declarations or other evidene€F No. 35 at 6. These arguments are sim
without merit. Defendants are not requiredwbmit sworn affidavits with their motions to
dismiss, and plaintiff does notisa any plausible basis for quesiiog their standing to challeng
claims asserted against them. Accordmgtie court will deny plaintiff's motion.
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V. Motion to Remand

A. Leqgal Background

A district court may remand to state coudase that has been removed to the district
court if at any time it gpears that the districourt lacks subject matter jurisdiction. 28 U.S.C.

1447(c). Federal courts construenmal statutes strictly to limiemoval jurisdiction._Shamrog

Oil & Gas Corp. v. Sheets, 313 U.S. 100, 108 (19&Hhus v. Miles, Inc., 980 F.2d 564, 566 (9
Cir. 1992). Removal is generally proper whendtstrict courts have original jurisdiction over

the action._See 28 U.S.C. § 1441; Dunea8tuetzle, 76 F.3d 1480, 1485 (9th Cir. 1996).

Jurisdiction must be determined from the facéhefcomplaint, Caterpillar Inc. v. Williams, 482

U.S. 386, 392 (1987), and it must be clear fromftite of the complaint under the well-pleads

complaint rule that federal subject matter jurisdiction exists, Oklahoma Tax Comm’n. v. Gr

489 U.S. 838, 840-41 (1989) (per curiam).

Procedures for removal are prescribed by28.C. § 1446. If a defendant or defendar]
desire to remove a civil actionofn state court to federal couthey must file “a notice of
removal signed pursuant to Rule 11 of the Faldeules of Civil Procedure and containing a
short and plain statement of the grounds for neahdogether with @opy of all process,
pleadings, and orders served upon such defendant or defendantsactsuth 28 U.S.C.

§ 1446(a). Subdivision (b) of 8146 specifies the “notice ofmmval of a civil action or

proceeding shall be filed within thirty days after the receighbydefendant, through service or

otherwise, of a copy of the initial pleading setting forth the claim for relief upon which such
action or proceeding is based . . . .” 28 U.S.C446(b). When there is more than one defeng
in the action, “[a]ll defendants who have beeoparly . . . served in the action must join a

petition for removal.”_Destfino v. Reiswig, 6803d 952, 956 (9th Cir. 2011) (internal quotatic

marks omitted). This is commonly referred tdtaes unanimity requirement. Defendants may
also meet the unanimity requirement by amendiegithtice of removal withithirty (30) days of

its filing. See, e.qg., Hafiz v. GreenpoMbrtgage Funding, Inc., 652 F. Supp. 2d 1050, 1052

(N.D. Cal. 2009) aff'd sub nom. Hafiz v. Grgmint Mortgage Funding, 409 F. App’x 70 (9th

Cir. 2010) (“Barring these exceptions, all defendamist either join or provide within thirty
8
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days consent to the removal notice.”).
Failure to comply with the thirty-day timenitation or the unanimity requirement rende

the removal procedurally defectivee€SEmrich v. Touche Ross & Co., 846 F.2d 1190, 1193

(9th Cir. 1988). Procedural defects in renmplhiawever, are not jurisdional. Rather, such

defects are modal or formal and may be wdiv Fristoe v. Reynolds Metals Co., 615 F.2d 12

1212 (9th Cir. 1980); Hernandez v. Six Fl&dagic Mountain, Inc., 688 F.Supp. 560, 562 (C.L

Cal. 1988).

B. Analysis

The court will neither grant nor deny plaintgfinotion to remand. Instead, the court wjill

order defendants to file oppositions or notioéson-opposition to platiff's motion to remand
within fourteen (14) days from the servicetlof order. Plaintiff seeks remand on two ground
(1) plaintiff's complaint does not contain a fealequestion, and (2) defdants the County of
Sacramento, Bratcher, and Gweon all failed to joanGity Defendants’ notice of removal. Firs
plaintiff's assertion that his coplaint does not include a fedecplestion is simply incorrect.
Plaintiff's complaint asserts deral claims against defendafds violation of 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1981
1983, 1985(3), and 1986. Accordingly, the courtdqwdgect matter jurisdion over plaintiff's
complaint based on the existe of a federal question.

Plaintiff’'s argument based dhe procedural requiremera$ removal merits more
consideration. The City Defendardriginal notice of removal didot include consents from an
other defendants. Accordingly, removal of ttmatter was originally praxurally defective.
However, 27 days after the City Defendants fileglrthotice of removal, #y filed an applicatiof
to amend the notice that included signed cotssieam every defendant except for defendant
Gweon. ECF No. 12. Because this correction weg Wwithin thirty (30) days of the City
Defendants’ filing of their original notice of removal, there is no question the procedural dg
to every defendant but defendant Gweon was cured.

The City Defendants, in their amended noteqlain that they didiot include a consent

from defendant Gweon because she had notgéteir knowledge, been properly served. EC
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No. 12-1 at 3. The City Defendants’ oppositiorplaintiff's motion makes the same argumént.

ECF No. 11. Since the City Defendants’rdiof their opposition; however, defendant Gweor
has appeared in this action and a consent tovainstill has yet to béled. ECF No. 20. The

failure to file a consent at this stage amounta procedural error necessitating remand unles
defendants can establish defendant Gweon wagraperly served. See Destfino, 630 F.3d at
957 (“Because service on the Kim defendants was defective, their joinder in the petition w

required.”);_Gaus v. Miles, n, 980 F.2d 564, 566 (9th Cir. 1992) (“The strong presumption

against removal jurisdiction means that the defahdhlvays has the burden of establishing th
removal is proper.” (internal quotations omitted)). The court finds that the City Defendants
opposition does not establish removal was pro@iyuysroper because it does not sufficiently
explain defendant Gweon'’s failure to consentetmoval at this stage of the proceedings.

However, none of the defendants other th@Qity Defendants have filed oppositions
plaintiff’'s motion to remand, and ¢hcourt takes some responsibility that. The court’s June
10, 2015, order taking plaintiff's motion to remamader submission did not give dates certair
when defendants were required to file opposg#ioECF No. 32. In the midst of the many
pending motions and in the absence of any cedeaalline, it is understdable that defendants
may have inadvertently neglected to file opposs. The court finds that the filing of
oppositions by defendants may shed some much needed light on when, if ever, defendant
was properly served and accordingly whether reinaea procedurally defective. Accordingly
the court will order defendants to file oppositisaglaintiff’s motion toremand within fourteen
(14) days of the seize of this order.

I

* The City Defendants’ opposition also argtlest defendant Gweon'’s failure to consent to
removal should not bar removal because she isiallyi immune from lidility. ECF No. 11 at
5. The fact that defendant Gweon may be imnftora liability does not maan her consent is n
required, however. Unless defendants céabdish that defendant Gweon is a nominal
defendant, her consent is required to rentbisematter._See S.E.C. v. Colello, 139 F.3d 674,
676 (9th Cir. 1998) (“A nominal defendantagerson who holds the subject matter of the
litigation in a subordinate or possessory capaastyo which there is no dispute.” (internal
guotation marks omitted)).
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CONCLUSION

In accordance with the foregoing, E-COURT HEREBYORDERS that:

1. Plaintiff's motion for leavéo amend, ECF No. 34, is DENIED;

2. Plaintiff’'s motion to strike defendantsiotions to dismiss, ECF No. 35, is DENIED;

3. Plaintiff’'s motion to proceed iforma pauperis, ECF No. 7, is DENIED;

4. The City Defendants’ application to end their notice of removal, ECF No. 12, is
GRANTED; and

5. Defendants must file oppositions to ptdf’'s motion to remand, ECF No. 6, within
fourteen (14) days of the service of this ardBefendants may file their oppositions separate

or they may join in a single opposition as lawit is signed by counsel for each defendant.

Plaintiff must file any reply witim fourteen (14) days of theervice of the last defendant’s
opposition.
Dated: October 19, 2015
/s/ Gregory G. Hollows
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
/wilb699.opp’n
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